5 Results by Iain Banks, Paul Duffy and

Gavin MacGregor

5.1 Introduction

The initial division of the valley into Areas A, B and
C, as referred to above, was undertaken as a tool
for practical project management. The locations of
these areas, and the archaeological sites discovered
within them, are shown in Illus 1, 2 and 10, to allow
ease of reference to the project archive. The archaeo-
logical work undertaken in the valley has, however,
revealed a rich palimpsest, with evidence of occupa-
tion stretching back to early prehistory. In this light,
the academic presentation of the results by nominal
area adds little to the readers’ understanding of the
archaeological discoveries made during the project,
and the significance of those findings. Instead, the
results of the project and discussions of the findings
are presented below in a synthetic narrative, based
on the three main evidence strands for occupation
in the valley.

5.2 Burnt mound deposits in Areas A and B
by Paul Duffy with contribution from Gavin
MacGregor

5.2.1 Discovery and excavation

The archaeological work at Girvan identified eight
discrete deposits of burnt mound material, one in
Area A (Deposit 1) and seven in Area B (Illus 2).
Of the sites identified in Area B, five were subject
to full excavation to achieve preservation through
record (Deposits 2-6). The remaining sites (Deposits
7 and 8) were identified during a watching brief
during soil profiling and were preserved in situ with
no further investigative work taking place.

5.2.2 Area A (Illus 3)

Excavation revealed burnt mound material (Deposit
1) that had been extensively eroded and denuded
by a combination of complex post-depositional
processes. Specialist analysis of the soil morphology
(see Section 6.1,below) indicates that these processes
were initially a combination of high-energy and
low-energy depositional events, suggesting perhaps
a salt-marsh environment in which material had
been mixed and redeposited by a series of abrading
channels continually eroding and silting within the
marsh. This was followed by a more sustained low-
energy deposition of material in a wet and largely
stagnant watery environment, which deposited

silts and clays that eventually covered the mound.
Although there was considerable alteration of the
characteristics of the original deposit by these
processes, the dimensions established through exca-
vation suggest that the mound must have been at
least ¢ 4m by 4m. No trough or associated features
were identified.

Illus 3 shows a typical section of the mound,
as excavated. The primary deposits on site were
a series of blue clay sands containing occasional
small shells, presumed to represented marine-
deposited material laid down when the area was
open to the sea (contexts 151, 159, 160, 200, 232;
illus 3a). Small channels filled with well-preserved
organic material appear to have formed on top of
these deposits, suggesting a subsequent change to
a marshier environment, reinforced by the pedo-
logical analysis of excavated deposits. The main
deposit of burnt mound material (contexts 101,
116, 130, 182-185; illus 3b) lay directly on top of
these clays, sands and organic-filled channels. It
was, in general, composed of black, charcoal-rich
silt clay containing small fire- and heat-cracked
stones, which ranged from 50-150mm in diameter.
Immediately following the deposition of the burnt
mound material, small channels formed and
filled with organic material (contexts 116-120,
132-139, 252), creating the confusing pattern of
erosion and deposition observed during the exca-
vation. Following this phase, material continued
to accumulate around the burnt mound deposit,
eventually covering it. These water-deposited
sediments comprised orange to yellow sands and
sandy clays (contexts 100, 122, 123, 141, 167, 168,
201, 202, 218, 238, 239, 242). A later field drain
(context 203) and ditch (contexts 161, 163) further
truncated the burnt mound deposit, and contexts
142,143 and 180 appear to have been disturbed by
these intrusive digging actions.

We can perhaps therefore envisage the formation
of the burnt mound on a small area of relatively
stable ground within a marsh environment. The site
appears to have been used only once, as no evidence
for successive deposits of material was found,
following which it was abandoned. The continually
shifting channels and pools within the marsh sub-
sequently mixed, eroded and redeposited the burnt
mound material along with other sediments, before
the site was eventually covered as further sediments,
deposited in an increasingly stagnant watery envi-
ronment, covered the site entirely.

Radiocarbon dates from Alnus charcoal contained
within burnt mound contexts 101 and 130 produced

Illus 2 (opposite) Area B: Location of wood and burnt mound deposits
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Illus 4 Area B: Burnt Mound Deposit 2 plan and sections

dates of 1610-1410 Bc (SUERC-2906) and 1690-
1480 Bc (SUERC-2907), respectively.

5.2.3 Area B
Burnt Mound Deposit 2 (Illus 4)
Deposit 2 consisted of a spread of fire-cracked stones

and black, charcoal-rich soil measuring ¢ 9m by 9m.
The northernmost part of the mound was a very thin
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deposit of plough-spread material (context 018), no
more than 0.05m thick. The southern portion of the
mound was better preserved, to a maximum depth
of 0.1m and overlay a layer of silty grey clay (context
003).

Located to the west was an associated sub-rect-
angular shaped trough, which measured 1.5m by 1m
by ¢ 0.4m deep. It had been cut through the underlying
silty grey clay and glacial subsoils, and was truncated
at its southern end by a modern gas pipe. The deposits
within comprised a lower fill of burnt mound material



(context 012), above which lay a medium grey clay silt
(context 011) and a black sooty silt containing occa-
sional fire-cracked stones (context 010).

In the southern portion of the mound, a post-hole
(context 016) was found, filled with loose, dark brown,
friable clay silt with frequent inclusions of charcoal.
An area of possible paving was also identified in this
area, consisting of eight flat, pink sandstone slabs
sitting on the surface of layer 012/018.

A single-entity radiocarbon date from Alnus
charcoal produced a date of 1960-1740 Bc
(SUERC-2919).

Burnt Mound Deposit 3 (Illus 5)

The burnt mound deposit (context 006) consisted of
a thin deposit of plough-spread, burnt sub-angular
stones contained within charcoal-rich silt clay and
measured ¢ 15m east/west by 8m north/south.
At the western margin, the deposit (context 006)
existed only as a thin surface spread of material, at
most 0.03m deep, which overlay the same grey clay
observed in other parts of the site. At the eastern
side, the deposit extended to a maximum thickness
of 0.15m. Underlying the burnt mound material
(context 006) at this side was a further deposit of
burnt mound material and pale grey ashy mottling
(context 007), which lay in a small scoop (context
021), measuring 2.5m by 0.5m by 0.1m deep. This
was interpreted as a highly truncated trough.

To the southern and eastern sides of the deposit,
the course of the palaeochannel had cut into the
side of the mound and eroded some of the deposit,
resulting in a layer of clean, heat-affected angular
stones, contained within a matrix of silt sand with
inclusions of charcoal flecks (context 009). Overlying
this context was a layer of well-sorted fluvial silts
(context 008).

A single-entity radiocarbon date was obtained
from Corylus charcoal and produced a date of 2350—
2050 Bc (SUERC-2918).

Burnt Mound Deposit 4 (Illus 5)

Burnt Mound 4 was a small, irregular spread of
fire-cracked stones contained within a charcoal-rich
matrix (context 030) measuring 1m east/west by
0.46m north/south. This was sitting in a small pit,
0.11m deep, with steep, almost vertical sides and an
irregular flat base. It is possible that this represents
the remains of a trough truncated by plough action.

A single-entity radiocarbon date was obtained
from Corylus charcoal and produced a date of 2400-
2130 Bc (SUERC-2917).

Burnt Mound Deposit 5 (Illus 6)

Burnt Mound 5 comprised burnt and fire-cracked
stones contained in black silty soil (context 026), and
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measured ¢ 13m by 11.5m. A decommissioned gas pipe
(context 027) cut through the southern side of the
deposit, and to the north the line of an old culvert also
truncated the burnt mound deposit. The burnt mound
material (context 026) was heavily plough-truncated
and had also been disturbed in several places by
machine action, which had cut deep tracks into some
areas (context 028). The maximum depth of material
was ¢ 0.42m, but in some places it consisted of only
a thin spread of charcoal-smeared clay, particularly
towards the western half of the trench. The deposit
was underlain by grey silt clay (context 003), but to the
western end overlay an area of natural gravel, possibly
related to the old watercourse that ran through the
area. No associated trough or structural features were
found. The original watercourse, beside which the
mound was located, may have run east/west.

A single-entity radiocarbon date was obtained
from Alnus charcoal and produced a date of 2140-
1910 Bc (SUERC-2920).

Burnt Mound Deposit 6 (Illus 7)

Burnt Mound 6 was actually the first of the mounds
excavated in Area B. The deposit comprised charcoal-
enriched soil, charcoal lumps and fire-cracked stones,
the majority of which appeared to be micaceous
sandstone (context 008/010). It had been disturbed
to the south by a field ditch. The main putative
burnt mound deposit was to the north of the field
ditch and extended over an area of ¢ 10.8m by 4m.
To the south of the field ditch was a smaller deposit
of burnt mound material extending over an area c
2.2m by 3.2m. Plough furrows were observed cutting
into context 008, suggesting that the burnt mound
material had been truncated and plough spread.

Excavation revealed the burnt mound material
(context 008/010) had a maximum depth of
0.15m, and lay directly on grey silt clay (context
004/006/009/016), which itself sealed a peat deposit
(context 020). In places, between the two layers there
was a thin intermittent layer of mica, roughly 2mm
thick. The southern margin of the putative burnt
mound was sealed by orange silt clay (context 002).
The northern margin of the mound appeared to have
been disturbed by water action, with lenses of burnt
mound material (context 008) mixed with sands
and clays (context 025) sealed by a mixed denuded
peat (context 003), which was in turn sealed by the
deposit of orange silt clay (context 002).

Two struck flints (SF 002 & 004) were discovered
during excavation.

A single-entity radiocarbon date was obtained
from Corylus charcoal and produced a date of 2040—
1770 Bc (SUERC-2915).

Burnt Mound Deposits 7 & 8

Both these deposits were recorded during a watching
brief on a later phase of geological test pitting in
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Illus 6 Area B: Burnt Mound Deposit 5 plan and sections

the proposed construction area for Warehouse 35.
Both deposits consisted of spreads of charcoal-rich
soil and fire-cracked stones that covered the whole
2m by 2m extent of each test pit. Both were located
approximately 0.6m below the level of the topsoil,
and were overlain by a similar red-brown silt clay
deposit as was shown to mask other archaeological
deposits in the valley. Preservation was achieved in
situ and no excavation or sampling took place.

5.2.4 Discussion

The excavations at Grant’s Distillery, Girvan,
recorded seven discrete areas that can be classed
as site of burnt mound material’. Such material
is highly distinctive, consisting of heat-shattered
stones mixed with charcoal-enriched soil. The type
of stone varies, but always shows the effects of
being heated in a fire, and identifiable fragments
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of charcoal are often preserved in the surround-
ing matrix of charcoal-enriched soil (James 1986;
Barfield & Hodder 1987). Although such sites have
a wide variability of associated features such as
troughs, hearths and structural elements (Barber
1990), these characteristics give broad definition to
this class of archaeological site. All of the deposits
identified at the Grant’s site fulfil these basic
defining characteristics, and are part of a wider con-
centration within the local environs.

The distribution of burnt mounds is widespread
in Scotland, with increasing numbers recorded over
the past few years (eg Maynard 1993; Banks 1999).
They are generally dated to a well-defined period
within the Bronze Age, with a predominance of
second millennium Bc dates (Buckley 1990). Region-
ally, burnt mounds are known from a number of
locations, with excavated examples found from
Crawford and Muirhead (Banks 1999), Dykes Farm
(NMRS NS30SE 40-45) and Blacklauchrie (NMRS



wi

_.H—N

1017928 pun uvjid 9 3150da(] PUNOP JUING g DLy J SNJI]

wor 0

youa _

L
Zyouar -
-

S soz_E L i

14



NX38NW 6). Similar dated examples have been
excavated around the Stranraer area at Cruise,
Gabsonout and Dervaird (Ashmore 1997). More
locally, six similar deposits were identified along a
relic palaeochannel (Donnelly & MacGregor 2006)
at Gallowhill, to the immediate south of the Grant’s
site. In combination with the burnt mounds from
Grant’s, the area to the north of Girvan can therefore
be seen to offer one of the densest concentrations of
such sites in the south-west to date. Of the seven
sites identified in the valley, five were excavated and
dated and are discussed below.

The range of dates from published sites illustrates
longevity of tradition, stretching from the mid
second millennium Bc to the mid first millennium
Bc. Dates obtained from the nearby site of Crawford
compare broadly with the sites from Girvan: from
the northern burnt mound trough a date of 2138-
1766 BCc (AA-12591) and from the southern trough
of 2315-1928 Bc (AA-12589). Further afield at
Muirhead, dates of 1311-912 Bc and 1387-940 BC
were obtained from two separate troughs, indicat-
ing the long tradition of such sites. Dates from the
burnt mounds from Gallowhill ranged from 2460-
2130 Bc (GU-9802) from Trough 5 to 1440-1260 BC
(GU-9803) from Trough 3.

It has been suggested at Gallowhill that a clear
phasing can be seen in the distribution of burnt
mounds, with later examples dated to the mid to late
second millennium Bc clustered around a relic pal-
aeochannel, whilst earlier examples from the later
third millennium Bc are located further away from
this feature. No such distribution of the sites can be
inferred in Area B from the dating evidence; all date
broadly to the later third millennium/early second
millennium Bc. It could be suggested that sites 2 and
3 do appear broadly contemporary and of earlier date
than sites 1, 4 and 5, but the subtleties of the dates
confound any real attempts at analysis of phasing.
It is of more significance that these burnt mound
deposits are of significantly earlier date than that in
Area A, which dates to the mid second millennium Bc
and is broadly contemporary with all but one of the
burnt mound sites from Gallowhill.

The variation in date of sites in Area B most likely
reflects no more than the occasional reuse of the area
over time for activities related to the formation of
the burnt mound material. It does, however, suggest
that within the local area, this part of the valley was
a significant focus of burnt mound activity in the
later third millennium/early second millennium Bc.
Each site appears to have been used only once, sug-
gesting that it was the specifics of the local landscape
that motivated the focus for this activity, rather
than specific locations. When the coincidence of the
location of burnt mound sites alongside streams or
on boggy ground, identified by many researchers
(for example, Power 1990), is considered along with
the environmental evidence from the site, it is not
pushing the evidence too far to suggest environmen-
tal suitability, in the form of wet marshland, was
what encouraged repeated use of the area.
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In this light it is tempting to see the location of
the later Area A site (and the majority of those at
Gallowhill) as part of a process of environmental
change: the valley gradually draining towards the
sea and the local environment in Area B changed
from watery marsh to a more stable waterlogged
soil. This change, attested through the analysed
environmental evidence from the excavations, may
have necessitated the location of later sites further
down the valley, where conditions were still appro-
priate. The changing location of such sites over time
may therefore be seen as a pattern reflecting the
changing nature of the local environment through
time, and related to a requirement for an adjacent
water source. Whether this suitability was regarded
in purely functional terms or had wider social impli-
cations is more difficult to assess.

More complex, however, are the potential uses
of such sites. Although the subject of intense func-
tional debate, it is generally accepted that burnt
mounds were probably cooking places, where stones
were first heated in a fire, and then thrown into a
water trough to heat water for boiling meat. Alter-
native suggestions, including the possibility that
they may represent a form of prehistoric sauna,
have also been put forward (for example Barfield
& Hodder 1987). Banks presents a thorough review
of the types of archaeological evidence that may be
expected from the signatures of the various hypothe-
sized functions (Banks 1999), and concludes that his
examples must have been related to cooking. Whilst
such discussions are often site-specific in nature,
and can be criticized for failing to explore alterna-
tive implications beyond the purely functional, the
sites at Girvan are worth considering within this
established framework.

The excavated sites from Girvan show a variety
of morphological distinctions, and in general are
poorly preserved examples of this class of site, due
to plough truncation across the entire area. Tra-
ditionally, such deposits are often, although not
exclusively, associated with a trough capable of
holding water, and a hearth where the stones were
heated. Site A has a definite trough feature, and a
number of structural elements including paving,
and possible stakeholes at the northern end of the
trough. It may be that these structural elements
suggest a more complex function than the other
burn mounds in the valley, but this is difficult to
assess from the truncated remains excavated. A
second possible trough was identified at site 3,
whilst site 4 may itself be a trough, similar to the
isolated troughs identified at Gallowhill (Donnelly
& MacGregor 2006); the absence of mound material
may be explained by plough truncation. Sites 1, 5
and 6 all appear to consist only of burnt mound
material although all appear to have been located
either close to, or within, watery environments and
channelling or blocking of these water supplies may
have served a similar function to that of the trough.
Thus it is entirely possible, given current thinking,
that the sites are the dispersed remains of a series
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Illus 8 Area B: Plan and section of wood deposit

of cooking events. As such, they represent longevity
of tradition which may have been expressed in the
area for over 500 years.

5.3 Wood and inundation in Area B by Gavin
MacGregor
5.3.1 Discovery and excavation

During the course of the watching brief in Area B,
peat deposits were revealed below the topsoil (¢
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0.30m deep) and subsoil layer (context 002). Several
sondages were hand-dug to test these peat deposits;
one of these produced waterlogged wood, leading to
further excavation within a 5m by 5m trench (see
Illus 2 and Illus 8).

The deposits had a total depth of 1.0m, comprising
from top to bottom, orange clay (context 002), brown
loamy clay (context 003), probably a degraded peat,
grey clay (context 004) and a peat deposit (context
005/007) formed on the glacial till. There were clearly
two distinct episodes represented in the trench, the
first represented by cessation of peat formation



when the clay (context 002) began to form, while
the second was the presence of layer 004 in associa-
tion with the wood, sealed between layers of peat.
Monolith samples were taken from the deposits for
pollen and micro-morphological analyses.

Micro-morphological analysis has shown that the
upper clay deposits relate to a low-energy water
environment (see Section 6.1, below). A sample of
fragments of grass, obtained at a depth of 0.20m
within the lower peat layer, was dated to 5990-5800
BC (SUERC-2908). This date for the lower peat fits
well with the pollen profile and indicates a clear
phase of decline in tree pollen that may relate to
clearance (see Section 6.2, below). A further date of
790-410 Bc (SUERC-2909) was obtained from alder
bark within the clay deposit (context 004).

The preserved wood all comprised alder (see
Section 6.2, below) and was located on the peat
(context 005) at a depth of ¢ 0.60m and partially
sealed by context 004. The wood comprised a number
of roughly parallel lengths, ¢ 2m long, of round wood
running north-west to south-east. Across these lay
another straight length of wood, ¢ 3m long, running
north-east to south-west (Illus 8). Most of the pieces
exhibited signs of burning. All the ends, bar one, were
heavily rotted. One piece was embedded downwards
and upon lifting exhibited probable chop marks. The
wood has been dated to 390-200 Bc (SUERC-2910)
and 410-200 Bc (SUERC-2914).

Further monitoring established that the
excavated deposit was discrete in extent, but that
several other large, isolated pieces of wood were
present within the peat further to the west. It is
unclear, however, whether this distribution is real
or merely reflects the vagaries of differential pres-
ervation. Analysis of the wood has shown that chop
marks and traces of burning are present on some
of the samples (see Section 6.2, below). One of the
pieces of alder wood located to the west, within the
peat context 007, was radiocarbon dated to 5480—
5310 Bc (SUERC-2924).

5.3.2 Discussion

Prior to obtaining the radiocarbon dates, the timbers
exhibiting burning and cut marks were considered
to relate potentially to a pre-third millennium Bc
clearance of woodland, as they were stratigraphi-
cally lower than the sediments upon which the burnt
mounds rested. Radiocarbon dates now indicate
these timbers date to the later first millennium
BC, a picture supported by pollen analysis, which
shows clear evidence of a major episode of woodland
clearance in the Iron Age. As such, the discovery and
analysis of these timbers is of some significance for
several reasons.

The first reason is the chronology of the sediments
in Area B, which indicates the timbers sank down
through deposits after they had been felled. The
burnt mounds dating to the second half of the third
millennium Bc were probably located adjacent to a
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mire or pool, but on ground that was firm enough
to take human activity at this time. However, the
ground subsequently became wetter, allowing the
timbers to sink but not the burnt mound material,
suggesting that conditions were different even
within a localized area. The superficial similari-
ties between the sediments, on which the burnt
mounds sat and which sealed the peat holding the
timbers, are probably due to similar sedimentary
processes and secondary transformations. We can
thus suggest that the burnt mounds were located
adjacent to a pool or mire that has subsequently
filled with sediments. The apparent rough arrange-
ment of the timbers could be suggestive of a platform
or trackway that was located at this point, but with
the timbers having sunk downwards this possibility
cannot be assessed with any certainty.

The second reason is that the timbers show evidence
of clearance in the later Iron Age period, for which
there are considerable amounts of other forms of
palaeoenvironmental evidence in pollen cores. That
the evidence is suggestive of slash and burn clearance
is perhaps not surprising, as it represents a well-
known model of clearance, albeit an archaeologically
poorly attested method (Tipping 1994, 35-6). While
the timbers may have derived from further upslope,
what is more intriguing is the apparent clearance of
a relatively marginal and boggy area.

The wood in Area B has evidence for burning and
chopmarks together that would be consistent with
models of slash and burn clearance. However, as the
palaeoenvironmental evidence has confirmed that
this was a poorly drained area of ground and would
appear unsuitable for agriculture, why then was
the area, or at least the slopes around it, cleared at
this time, when there are extensive tracts of ground
in the wider area more suitable for establishing
arable ground? Palaeoenvironmental evidence from
elsewhere in the region suggests that there was
increased clearance during the second half of the
first millennium Bc (Birks 1972; Edwards et al 1991,
Jones et al 1991). The intensification of clearance
during this period has also been noted more widely
across southern Scotland and northern England (eg
Tipping 1994; Dumayne-Peaty 1999). This has fre-
quently been interpreted as relating to increased
demands for agricultural ground (Dumayne-Peaty
1999, 32). The majority of evidence for clearance
during the second half of the first millennium Bc
comes from an upland context, which is potentially
problematic for making wider inferences. That
the evidence for clearance at Girvan is essentially
coastal and lowland is significant to the reassess-
ment of models of Iron Age society generally, and
more specifically to our understanding of landscape
management during this period.

Within the wider locale the evidence for later
prehistoric activity is patchy. There are, however,
several sites that may be contemporary with the
episode of clearance, although the lack of a secure
chronology makes any potential relationship hypo-
thetical. These sites include the fort at Gallow Hill



(NMRS NX19 NE 29), the fort and Dun at Dow Hill
(NMRS NX19 NE 7) and the possible Dun at Brae
Hill NMRS NX29 NW 7). There is also limited aerial
photographic evidence of enclosures, roundhouses
and ring-ditches that could be contemporary with the
clearance. There is, however, a significant possibility
that some of these sites are Romano-British in date
(see Donnelly & MacGregor 2006). When considered
in relation to the relative paucity of research into
the Iron Age of south-west Scotland (Haselgrove et
al 2001, 24-5; Banks 2002), this makes it difficult to
place the episode of clearance in a wider cultural or
interpretative context. For example, the relevance of
the Hownam sequence to the south-west is difficult to
assess with the currently available information (see
Banks 2000, 273-8). Nonetheless, despite limited
evidence of archaeological remains clearly dating
to the late first millennium Bc in the immediate
environs of William Grant’s, the discovery of slash
and burn clearance suggests that the area was suf-
ficiently densely occupied to require the intake of
marginal ground.

Clearly, then, several questions are raised by the
majority of the worked timbers found, which date
to within the later Iron Age period. A single isolated
example tothe west ofthis concentration was,however,
dated to 5480-5310 Bc (SUERC-2924). Miller and
Ramsay (Section 6.2, below) do note that there are
two possible earlier phases of anthropogenic impact
on woodland testified in the pollen record, potentially
in the Neolithic and Bronze Age. In these circum-
stances, the status of an earlier, isolated timber is
somewhat more difficult to assess.

The burning and chop marks show it was subject
to anthropogenic impact, but the purpose of that
impact is unclear. The significant numbers of lithic
scatters with a microlithic component in the area
have led to the suggestion that the Girvan area
was a distinct locus of activity during the Meso-
lithic (Morrison & Jardine 1976). Sites excavated at
Little Hill Bridge and Girvan Mains have produced
evidence for Mesolithic activity datingto 6355-6012
BC (Beta 108701; MacGregor & Donnelly 2001) and
4800-4550 BCc (GU-9806; Donnelly & MacGregor
2006), respectively. Thus, it could be suggested that
the wood is the detritus of fires related to a general
locus of Mesolithic ‘settlement’ along the slope of
the valley between the seventh and fifth millennia
BC; the wood has simply been collected and burnt
for fuel. However, the partial burning of the wood,
as opposed to full carbonization, may suggest it
was not collected as fuel for a hearth. Rather, the
combination of chop marks and partial burning
is, perhaps, more akin to the traces of slash and
burn to clear wood. The clearance of wood along
the fringes of a mire may have been undertaken to
open up the area, to encourage water and grazing
for animals (Mellars 1976). There are several other
examples where small-scale clearance of woodland
has been suggested in south-west Scotland during
the Mesolithic (Edwards et al 1983; Ralston &
Edwards 1984; Edwards 1989). At North Holm
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Plantation, analysis of a pollen core has shown
small-scale woodland clearance was potentially
taking place at about 6120-5990 Bc (OxA-8216;
Banks in prep), notably located within 5km of the
Mesolithic site of Kirkhill, dated to 6650-6510
BC (Pollard & Donnelly in prep). While there has
been debate about the presence of charcoal within
peat (eg Ralston & Edwards 1984; Tipping 1994),
at Cooran Lane, Galloway Hill charcoal fragment
were dated to 6459-6213 Bc (Q-874; Birks 1975),
and were interpreted as an indicator of anthropo-
genic activity such as small-scale clearance. Most
recently, Gregory states that the evidence ‘implies
[the] possibility of early woodland interference or
management connected with clearance and even
with early experiments in pastoralism’ (Gregory
2000, 4). The evidence from Girvan supports the
view that there were small-scale anthropogenic
impacts on woodland during the Mesolithic in the
south-west of Scotland. The nature and purpose of
these impacts is, however, more difficult to assess.

5.4 Moated enclosure and environs by Iain
Banks with contributions by Keith Speller,
Paul Duffy, Stuart Halliday & Bob Will

The Ladywell moated enclosure lies in a field at the
head ofthe valley between the 25m and 20m contours
at NGR NS 2026 0070. The site was identified from
aerial photographs by the Royal Commission on
the Ancient and Historical Monuments of Scotland
(RCAHMS), who had recorded the extensive area
of cropmark features within the field from aerial
photographs taken in 1992 (B.72797;, B.79043;
B.79044). The cropmarks consist of many different
elements and there was no certainty that all of the
features would be of a single phase. Most were not
chronologically specific, although the large right-
angled feature suggested an enclosure of medieval
or Iron Age date, thought to be part of a medieval
moated enclosure (P Corser, pers comm; McNeill
& MacQueen 1996, 431). Similar cropmarks at the
site of Carronbridge in Dumfriesshire, however, had
proved to be of an Iron Age date (Johnston 1994).

Medieval moated enclosures are relatively rare
in Scotland. Of roughly 5400 known from mainland
Britain, only around 120 are known from Scotland
(Coleman 2004, 146), and this is one of the few known
examples from the south-west. Only five other Scottish
examples have been the subjects of any archaeological
investigation: two in Kirkcudbrightshire (Bombie,
Anderson 1948; Dunrod, Burdon-Davis 1966); one in
Aberdeenshire (Castle of Wardhouse, Yeoman 1999);
a fourth in Renfrewshire (Elderlie, Alexander 2000);
and the most recent at Irvine in Ayrshire (Perceton
House, Stronach 2004). None of these investigations
has involved complete excavation. The investigation
at Ladywell was constrained by the development,
and consisted mainly of limited and targeted evalua-
tion, the exception being the footprint of Warehouse
40 (Halliday & Will 1998).
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5.4.1 Geophysical survey (Illus 9)
Resistivity survey

The results of the resistivity were disappointing.
Low resistance values were the norm across the
entire survey, reflecting the underlying clay soils.
The main features to stand out in the results were
two linear anomalies running across the plot, which
were interpreted as modern pipes. A faint trace of
the eastern section of the moat was also recorded,
albeit truncated by one of the pipelines. The best
information provided related to the geological condi-
tions and thus to an explanation of the distribution
of cropmarks within the field, with underlying clays
clearly visible across most of the survey area as low
resistance areas.

Magnetometer survey

The overall level of magnetic anomalies was low,
suggesting either little differentiation in magnetic
susceptibility between topsoil and sub-soil, or con-
siderable overburden. The results were plotted at
a narrow band of values, between -3 and +3 nT,
resulting in considerable ‘noise’ in the plot. The two
linear anomalies noted in the resistivity data were
also apparent in the gradiometer data but nothing
that could be immediately identified as being
unequivocally archaeological was identified. A very
strongly magnetic anomaly interpreted as a decom-
missioned gas pipeline also ran along the fence line
on the northern edge of the field (see also Abernethy
1996). To negate the magnetic distortion caused by
this pipe only the last 5m of each grid was surveyed
along its route.

Although somewhat tentative, the results did
indicate areas of archaeological potential and were
used as the basis for the layout of the trenches.
Although the clay exposed in the initial stripping
contained only minor features that bore little resem-
blance to the geophysical plots (see below), removal
of this clay layer exposed features that corresponded
much more closely to the survey results. With the
benefit of hindsight it is possible to map the features
to anomalies in the plots. In particular, the faint line
of the large AP feature could be discerned in the
magnetometer plot. It was also apparent that the
non-appearance of the northern part of the enclosure
ditch was likely to be the disturbance associated with
the decommissioned gas pipe.

Moated enclosure

Trenches 1-7 were excavated in 1996, while Trenches
8-12 were excavated in 1998 (see Illus 10); in the same
year, the footprint of a new warehouse (Warehouse
40) was excavated as part of a controlled topsoil strip.
In most cases, identified features were not excavated
but recorded by surface description only.
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Topsoil across the site was found to be between
0.2 and 0.4m in depth. In two areas (Trench 2 and
Trench 6), topsoil had been previously removed, and
imported material comprising clay, sand and stones
covered the subsoil to a depth of 1m. The topsoil in
Trench 6 had been replaced with a dump of clay/
sand and stones to a depth of ¢ 0.9—1m, which would
have removed any of the features noted in other
trenches.

Enclosure ditch

Trench 1 (Plan Illus 10; Section O-0O’) contained
the western side of the enclosure running north/
south across the trench. The lower fill contained
pottery date to the 12th to 16th centuries Ap. The
profile of the ditch was steeper on the west side of
the trench, suggesting that it had been designed
to restrict access from the west. This western
side of the enclosure was also present in Trench
8. Here, the ditch was 7.5-9m wide and started to
turn eastwards, indicating the start of the corner
of the enclosure. Trenches 7 and 11 contained the
eastern side of the enclosure, Trench 12 contained
the northern side, while Trench 9 contained the
southern side. A sondage through the ditch in
Trench 9 produced frequent sherds of medieval
pottery, dating to the 13th to 14th centuries Ap. This
matches the dates from other features relating to
the enclosure, such as the features from Warehouse
40 (below). There were also several other archaeo-
logical features in the trench, including a pit that
produced alder and oak charcoal as well as charred
oat, wheat and corn marigold seeds.

Interior

Trench 10 produced a number of post-holes, pits and
linear features, which represented features from
the interior of the enclosure (Illus 10). The features
produced a range of botanical material, but in small
amounts, and it was not possible to get any dates
from these features. The linear features were of
particular interest as they intersected one another
at right angles, and seem to have been structural
in origin; unfortunately, it was not possible to
determine a building plan from them.

Exterior

The features outside the enclosure consisted of addi-
tional ditches, pits, post-holes, stakeholes and linear
features. Several of these features were rich in
organic material, and produced a range of agricul-
tural species and weed species. Various of the pits
and post-holes contained significant quantities of
charred grain, with one in particular (Post-hole 024)
containing significant amounts of bread wheat (Illus
11). This is a very rare occurrence on Scottish sites,
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Illus 11 Plan of features

and is indicative of high status. The other important
information to emerge from the fills of the features
in this area was that a lot of the charcoal came from
oak, which suggests that this was the main building
material on the site. As oak was a relatively valuable
wood in the medieval period, it again suggests that
the settlement was high status and of some impor-
tance in the area.
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Radiocarbon dates from the features all indicated
a range of roughly 1240-1400 ap cal, which was
supported by the artefactual material (mainly
pottery). This dating matched the material that was
recovered from the interior of the moated enclosure,
and it is a reasonable interpretation to associate the
material from inside and outside the enclosure ditch
as belonging to the same settlement.



Environs of the moated enclosure (Illus 9)

Trenches 2, 3 and 5 revealed a layer of light grey
silt clay 0.4m deep and virtually stone-free; this was
an inundation deposit relating to deposits noted
elsewhere within the valley. Trench 4 contained
another inundation deposit, but in this case the clay
was a red/brown colour; however, it was a similar
0.4-0.5min depth. It also sealed a number of archaeo-
logical features cut into the natural subsoils. This
suggests that the moated enclosure was on a slightly
higher piece of ground that stood above the boggier
ground of the rest of the valley. It also creates a vivid
picture of the environment within which the moated
enclosure operated.

The clay sealed a number of linear, curvilinear
and sub-circular features in each of the trenches.
A sherd of medieval pottery and a single flint flake
were retrieved from Trench 2, but this was the only
artefactual material recovered. These undated
features probably relate to a period earlier than the
moated enclosure.

The finds

A variety of types and dates of artefacts were
recovered from Area C. Some of this material, such
as the pottery (Section 6.6, below), clearly relates to
the occupation of the moated enclosure during the
medieval period. Other artefacts are less clear-cut.

The lithics (Section 6.4, below), which are more
numerous in Area C than in the other areas, do not
form a coherent group and are not capable of close
dating. The find spots suggest that the material is
residual; some of it was recovered from the ditch
in different trenches, while other pieces came from
truncated contexts. This material can be taken to
show that there was prehistoric activity in this area,
which does little other than support the results of
fieldwork elsewhere in the Girvan area, such as
Littlehill Bridge (MacGregor & Donnelly 2001), or
Gallowhill (Donnelly & MacGregor 2006).

The glass bead from a layer of silting in Trench 3
(3002)is alsoproblematic. Itisnot sufficiently distinc-
tive to be dated confidently, although the likelihood
is that the bead dates to the early medieval period
(Section 6.5, below). It is, however, another residual
stray find, and, as with the lithics, it indicates that
there was activity in the valley that pre-dates the
medieval moated manor. It may be that some of the
undated cropmark features also date to this period.

5.4.2 Discussion

The four sides of the enclosure ditch were all
located, indicating that it was between 7.5m and 9m
in width, had a V-shaped profile and was in excess
of 1.2m deep. The fills indicated that the ditch silted
up over time and was not deliberately backfilled.
The pottery from the ditch was all medieval, sug-
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gesting a date of the 13th to 15th century Ap; this is
matched by the radiocarbon dates from the external
features, which ran from 1240 to 1400 cal ap.

The interior of the enclosure was only partially
investigated. Trench 7 produced a single sub-circular
pit; Trench 11 contained four sub-circular probable
pits and a linear feature. The highest number of
features came from Trench 10, where 26 separate
features were identified (illus 10). The majority were
pits and post-holes, although too little of the interior
was exposed to identify building plans. There were
also various linear features, including part of the
curious bisected oval from the aerial photograph.
Unfortunately, not enough carbonized material was
present to allow radiocarbon dating of any of these.

A group of ephemeral cross-cutting linear features
that ran at right angles to one another in Trench
10 were also identified through differential drying.
They were located in the northern end of the trench
and it seems clear that these features represent
structural elements, although it is not possible to
distinguish them as either part of a building or of the
internal sub-division of the enclosure. There were
associated post-holes, but these are to be expected
whether they were for fencing or for walling. It is
likely, however, that these features are of a different
date from the oval feature as they lie within the oval
but are much more ephemeral.

The finds relating to the enclosure were nearly
all derived from the enclosure ditch, and the vast
majority came from Trench 9. This may reflect the
lie of the land, with a slight slope from north to
south in this part of the valley, or it might reflect
patterns of waste disposal. It is striking that there
were no artefacts from the interior of the enclosure.
This may reflect the damage to the site caused by
repeated ploughing over the centuries. Equally,
however, it could reflect cleaning of the interior
during its occupation.

There is little else to be said about the interior
of the moated enclosure. Working from English
examples, there would be at least one substan-
tial building within the moat; at Bear Rails (Old
Windsor) in Berkshire, records mention a hall,
chamber, wardrobe, kitchen, gatehouse and granary
(Anon 1919, 1920). Generally, the expectation would
be to have several buildings standing within the
moat, forming the centre of an estate, with the moat
acting as a status symbol: although the truly rich and
powerful would have had stone castles instead. Over
time, the moat came to represent the minor nobility
more firmly, and wealthier merchants also began to
use moated enclosures. In Scotland, however, there
has been little or no evidence of internal buildings,
although excavations so far have not investigated
the entirety of the interiors of the enclosures. At
Bombie, no evidence of internal buildings was
uncovered (Anderson 1948). At Dunrod, a large
amount of stone suggested there had been stone
buildings within the enclosure, although there was
little to show the ground plans of the buildings
and nothing from which to establish the functions



or even numbers of the buildings. The excavator,
however, believed that there had been a structure in
the north-east quadrant of the enclosure (Burdon-
Davis 1966). Unlike Bombie, which produced no
dating evidence at all, Dunrod produced a reason-
able assemblage of pottery. Most was 13th to 15th
century in date, although there was a single sherd
of 15th- to 16th-century pot.

Castle of Wardhouse similarly produced no
definite evidence for structures. The interior trench
produced a scatter of pits, post-holes, later robber
trenches and a paved area (Yeoman 1999, 589—92),
but no clear evidence of the nature or form of any
internal buildings. Indeed, the conclusion of the
excavator was that:

The rest of this area is characterized by concen-
trations of cut features, which might represent the
remains of one or more timber buildings. Alterna-
tively, these might simply represent fence-lines
of scaffolding of unknown periods (Yeoman 1999,
613).

This is similar to the results at Girvan; there was
a scatter of pits and post-holes but with no obvious
patterns emerging and the cross-cutting linear
features in Trench 10 may represent fencing rather
than parts of buildings. It is likely that the oval
feature in this trench was a structure, although
probably an animal pen rather than a building,
while it may be the case that this feature dates
to a different period than the enclosure and that
its presence within the enclosure is coincidental.
Elderslie similarly produced nounequivocal evidence
of medieval structures within the enclosure. There
certainly would have been structures within the
enclosure, which appears to have had stone facing to
the internal enclosure wall, but subsequent activity
has left little, if any, indication of the buildings
(Alexander 2000, 175).

The exception is Perceton, where the first phase
described as the 12th- to 13th-century steward’s
farmstead included some lean-to structures,
although these seem to have been located at the edge
of an internal palisade (Stronach 2004, 151). There
were agricultural elements, such as a corn-drying
kiln, but there was again a lack of definite evidence
for buildings. This is true for the second phase at
Perceton, dating to the 14th to 15th centuries,
where the excavated area did not reveal any of the
buildings that must have stood within the enclosure
(Stronach 2004, 155).

Castle of Wardhouse could only be dated by its
pottery, which was largely a mixture of redware
and Scottish East Coast White Gritty Ware. There
were also a small number of imported sherds,
with Scarborough ware and German Langerwehe
stoneware both present (Will 1999, 604-5). This
would suggest a date of 14th—15th century aAp for the
occupation of the site, broadly similar to Dunrod.
Perceton produced White Gritty Ware for the first
phase, dating to the 12th-13th centuries, and Late
Medieval Reduced Ware, dating the second phase to
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the 14th-15th centuries. The artefactual dates were
supported by radiocarbon dates that indicated two
broad dates of 1040-1300 ap and 1290-1500 AD.

No faunal remains were reported from Bombie,
Dunrod, Elderslie or Perceton but the Castle of
Wardhouse assemblage produced a similarly small
and poorly preserved assemblage as Ladywell. Here
a mix of species was identified, with some pig, fowl
and caprines, together with those of two cats. The
Ladywell assemblage was also small and poorly
preserved, although in a worse condition. In this
case, the identifiable material came from cows.
Unfortunately, both assemblages are too small to
be considered as representative. The only thing that
can be said with confidence is that beef was a part
of the diet at Ladywell, while pork and mutton/lamb
were eaten at Castle of Wardhouse.

Exterior

There have been a number of successful investiga-
tions of the external setting of medieval monuments
that have revealed the presence of subsidiary
structures. This was previously recognized with
Scottish medieval towerhouses, that they stood at
the centre of settlement complexes and were not
isolated within the landscape (Tabraham 1988, 275).
Recent work at Urquhart Castle revealed a range of
external structures, largely relating to light indus-
trial processes (Banks in prep). It is also clear from
a wide range of historical sources that medieval
lordly buildings had a level of settlement based
around them. At Ladywell, several of the pits and
post-holes produced botanical evidence of the crops
available to the moated enclosure. As is common on
medieval sites in Scotland, the major crops appear
to have been oats and barley; this was the case at
Perceton as well, the only other site to report signifi-
cant levels of botanical material (Hastie 2004, 165).
The evidence of the weed seeds suggests the crops
are likely to have been produced locally, as it was
only partly processed, and that they were likely to
have been spring crops (Section 6.2, below); it would
also appear that the crops are likely to have been
grown on the higher ground and not on the valley
floor, as the weed seeds favour lighter soils. The
botanical analysis also notes that the weed seeds
differ between the oat and barley crops, suggesting
that they were grown in separate fields rather than
together.

Unusually for medieval Scotland, in addition to
the oat and barley on the site, there was also wheat
and, in particular, bread wheat. This was found
in several post-holes and pits across the side as a
minor element, but a single post-hole on site (F024),
produced 419 breadwheat seeds out of over 1300
seeds from a 500ml soil sample from the context.
Wheat, being less robust than oats or barley, has
been a rare occurrence on Scottish medieval sites,
and is considered to be a high status and expensive
foodstuff; there were four seeds of bread wheat from



the entire Perceton assemblage, despite similar
rich deposits of charred seeds (Hastie 2004). This
Ladywell material could be taken to be part of the
site’s production, but the evidence of the weed seeds
indicates that the crop had been heavily processed
and is likely to have been grown elsewhere (Section
6.2, below). The level of processing indicates a
commodity crop, sold for profit. It may have been
bought and brought to Ladywell, or it may represent
a tithe or other form of tax or offering.

Another interesting fact to emerge from the
botanical report is that oak was heavily utilized
on site. In fact, oak is the most widespread species
present in the charcoal examined, and appears in
greater amounts than any of the other species; in
contrast, no examples of oak were reported from
Perceton (Hastie 2004). Oak would have been rare
in the Girvan area in the medieval period, and
would have been an expensive material to use. It
is interesting that the oak derives from contexts
in this area lying outwith the enclosure, in an area
that should consist of subsidiary settlement and
non-domestic activities; perhaps this suggests that
the site was wealthy, if peripheral buildings could be
built from oak. From a similar period, the analysis
of botanical remains from a timber building outside
Urquhart Castle has shown that the building, which
appears to be a workshop of some form, was oak-
built and that oak was used as a fuel in its internal
hearths (Section 6.2). The building was constructed
for a wealthy castle owner, and the use of oak does
appear to denote a large budget.

Ladywell Manor or Ladywell Grange?

It seems clear from the presence of oak and of a bread
wheat crop, that the occupants, or more correctly,
the owners, of the moated enclosure were fairly
wealthy individuals. It is, however, more difficult
to say whether they were secular or ecclesiastical,
and either could have generated the archaeological
evidence found on the site. There is unfortunately
no historical evidence to settle the question. If
the site were ecclesiastical, it would have been a
monastic offshoot of Crossraguel Abbey, itself an
offshoot of Paisley Abbey. If this were the case, then
the site would have been Cluniac, and thus part of
the process of bringing the Church fully under the
control of the Papacy and away from lay control.
It would have been an important part of the local
landscape, as, in contrast to the Benedictines, the
Cluniacs sought to engage with the secular world
and bring the laity closer to the Church.

However, there are problems with an ecclesiasti-
cal explanation of the moated enclosure. Very near
to the site of the moated enclosure at Ladywell are
the remains of Chapel Donan (NS10SE 1). This
chapel, dedicated to St Donan of Eigg, who died
in 617 ap (Watson 1926), was extant in the period
that the enclosure was in use; a charter of Robert
IIT (1390-1406) that confirms the chapel to Cross-
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raguel Abbey (Paterson 1852) at this time. It seems
unlikely that Crossraguel Abbey would have had two
small religious properties so close together, but with
only one being mentioned in the charter. The moated
enclosure might have been a grange, although it
would be unusual for an ecclesiastical site to have
a moat. Distance from the world was normally dem-
onstrated through a wall or vallum, which was more
often a stone wall by the medieval period. However,
the moated enclosure might have been a gift to the
abbey, to be run as a grange. In such circumstances,
the occupants of the house would probably have
been lay brothers. It is then difficult to determine
how the material culture would have differed from
a secular site.

The alternative explanation is that the site was
secular and aristocratic, most likely as part of the
Bruce family group, belonging to either a relative or
a supporter. The site was in the lands of the Earldom
of Carrick in 1214-16, when Duncan, Earl of Carrick
gifted some of his lands to Paisley Abbey. In 1274,
Robert the Bruce was born and was seventh Earl of
Annandale and second Earl of Carrick, so by the end
of the 13th century the site at Ladywell stood on the
lands of the future king of Scotland. The house at
the moated enclosure of Ladywell would have been
known to Robert the Bruce, who had been born in
Turnberry.

For a secular explanation, the site would have been
of reasonably high status, as demonstrated by the
plant remains, and the moat of the enclosure should
be seen as a public demonstration of that status.
This was probably following the traditional pattern
in Scotland, where status was shown in physical
terms by the elaboration of the defences of aristo-
cratic sites. This idea comes from the Irish early
medieval law codes, where status was displayed
by extra ramparts around a rath. In Irish mid-first
millennium AD texts such as the Crith Gablach, the
extra rampart was the right of a 7 (a king) and part
of the drécht giallnae (Kelly 1988, 30; Crith Gablach,
1 570); the drécht giallnae was the labour service
owed to a lord by his subordinates, both free and
unfree. It is unlikely that there was any real con-
nection between the drécht giallnae and the moat
of the enclosure, but it would have fitted into the
tradition of architectural social signifiers that had
meaning in Scottish society. The moat was a social
signifier in England as well, where the Celtic legacy
was further in the past, but it certainly means that
the idea of an individual’s status being displayed in
the way their settlement was defended was part of
a clear tradition.

However, the argument cannot be pushed too far.
The highest status was shown by a stone castle
rather than a house surrounded by a moat. While
many of the moated enclosures belonged to high-
ranking nobles, many also belonged to the minor
nobility. It should also be noted that the bulk of
the botanical evidence indicates that the site was
using locally produced foodstuffs that had only been
partially cleaned (Section 6.2, below). The bread



wheat grains occur as a small part of the scatter of
cereal grains across the site, apart from Post-hole
F005, which might be taken as an indication that
there was bread wheat coming into the site from
time to time, not as part of the local farming, but
equally not as a single event. The barley and oats
indicate that the moated enclosure was the centre of
aworking farming estate, which would again suggest
that the occupants of the enclosure were not the
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upper reaches of the nobility. They may have been
monks or lay brothers; they may have been minor
gentry, either running their own estate or operating
the estate on the behalf of their feudal lord. Unfor-
tunately, there is insufficient evidence to determine
the true status and nature of the owners, particu-
larly as the site is historically invisible. There are no
charters extant that mention the site, either as an
ecclesiastical site or as a farming manor.





